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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEBRASKA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

ex rel, JOHN P. RAYNOR, CASE NO. 8:08-CV-48

Relator,
THIRD AMENDED COMPLAINT
V. FOR DAMAGES UNDER THE
FALSE CLAIMS ACT
NATIONAL RURAL UTILITIES
COOPERATIVE FINANCE CORPORATION,
NATIONAL RURAL ELECTRIC JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

COOPERATIVE ASSOCIATION, SHELDON C.
PETERSEN, JOHN J. LIST, STEVEN L. LILLY,
GLENN L. ENGLISH, DELOITTE TOUCHE
USA, LLP, RANDALL B. JOHNSTON, ERNST
& YOUNG LLP, MOODY'S CORP.; MOODY'S
INVESTORS SERVICE, INC.; THE MCGRAW
HILL COMPANIES, INC.; FITCH, INC.;
FITCH RATINGS, LTD.

Defendants.

N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N’

Relator seeks to recover damages and civil penalties on behalf of the United States of
America against the Defendants for False Claims made in violation of the False Claims Act, 31
U.S.C. § 3729 et. seq. (the “ACT”), arising out of (1) $3.0 Billion in loans from the Federal
Financing Bank (“FFB”) to Defendant, National Rural Utilities Cooperative Finance Corporation
(“CFC”), under the Rural Economic Development Loan and Grant (“REDLG”) program, 7
U.S.C. § 940c-1; (2) “non-program” investments in CFC, as described in 12 C.F.R. § 652.25,
made by Federal Agricultural Mortgage Corporation (“Farmer Mac”) by virtue of Farmer Mac’s
purchase of $435.6 Million in electric distribution systems loans; and (3) “program investments”
in CFC made by Farmer Mac by virtue of Farmer Mac’s line of credit loans to CFC of $1.675

Billion which are ultra vires because Farmer Mac has no express or incidental authority to
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provide lines of credit loans when there is no intent by Farmer Mac to acquire' “... a loan, or an
interest in a loan, for an electric or telephone facility by a cooperative lender ...” as is required

by Farmer Mac’s enabling statutory charter.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE
1. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 133 and 31
U.S.C. 3729 et seq.
2. Venue is proper in the United States District Court for the District of Nebraska

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 1391(b) and (c). Section 3729(a) of the ACT provides that “[a]ny action
under section 3730 may be brought in any judicial district in which any Defendant may be found
to reside, or transact business, or in any district in which any proscribed act has occurred”.
Defendant, National Rural Utilities Cooperative Finance Corporation (“CFC”) has forty (40)
members in Nebraska with loans in excess of $15 Million. Defendant Deloitte Touché USA LLP
has two offices in Nebraska: (i) 1601 Dodge Street First National Tower, Suite 3100, Omaha,
Nebraska and (ii) 1248 O St., Suite 1040, Lincoln, Nebraska. Defendant Ernst & Young has an
office at Suite 305 11605 Miracle Hills Drive, Omaha, NE.

3. Earlier versions of this Complaint have been filed in camera and have remained
under seal for a period of at least sixty (60) days. The Government has filed a Notice of Election
to Decline Intervention.

PARTIES TO THE ACTION

4. Qui tam Relator, John P. Raynor (“Relator”), is and was, at all times material

herein, a citizen of the United States of America residing in Omaha, Nebraska and brings this

action on behalf of the United States of America. Raynor personally developed the information

' Like Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, Farmer Mac provides liquidity to the market by buying qualified
loans, pooling those loans, and selling Farmer Mac guarantee mortgaged-backed securities.
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about the activities of Defendants that led Raynor to believe that the Defendants have perpetrated
a fraud upon the United States of America.

5. (a) Defendant National Rural Utilities Cooperative Finance Corporation
(“CFC”) is a tax-exempt (not-for-profit) financing cooperative formed pursuant to the laws of the
District of Columbia and operates out of its offices at 2201 Cooperative Way, Herndon, VA
20171. CFC is controlled by (i) the Electric utilities that are members of the National Rural
Electric Cooperative Association (“NRECA”) and (ii) by the Board of NRECA. CFC lends
funds directly to rural electric utilities and indirectly lends to rural telephone companies through
Rural Telephone Finance Corporation (“RTFC”), a taxable cooperative, which is under the
dominion and control of CFC.

(b) CFC is an unregulated, non-governmental sponsored entity that exists due to the
desire of Defendant, National Rural Electric Cooperative Association (“NRECA”) and NRECA
members to have a financing cooperative that is under their control. As set forth below, CFC
acknowledges that CFC’s primary competitor is a government sponsored entity:

CFC is primarily in competition with other banks for the business of its members. The
primary bank competitor is CoBank, ACB (""CoBank"), a government sponsored
enterprise and member of the Farm Credit System whose status as such gives it the
ability to offer lower interest rates in select situations. SEE: 2007 10K, page9.
(Emphasis Added)

(©) CFC is a private entity which was formed because of the support of the U.S.
Department of Agriculture (“USDA”) Rural Electric Administration (predecessor to the Rural
Utilities Service or “RUS”) or REA in that:

(1) REA had to approve® investments by REA borrowers in CFC’s Capital

2 PATRICIA LLOYD WILLIAMS, THE CFC STORY: HOW AMERICA’S RURAL ELECTRIC CO-OPERATIVES
INTRODUCED WALL STREET TO MAIN STREET 16 (CFC Press, 1995), p. 67.
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Term Certificates (“CTC”) or CFC’s hybrid debt/equity equities; and
(i1))  REA further supported CFC’s formation allowing “... systems [Electric

Cooperatives] could delay payments to REA in order to invest in [CFC issued] CTCs.”

See PATRICIA LLOYD WILLIAMS, THE CFC STORY: HOW AMERICA’S RURAL ELECTRIC

CO-OPERATIVES INTRODUCED WALL STREET TO MAIN STREET 16 (CFC Press, 1995), p.

69.

CFC was formed with the support of the USDA in order to facilitate Rural Electric Cooperatives
access to private funds (not Government funds) by marketing debt instruments — mortgage
backed securities.

6. (a) Defendant National Rural Electric Cooperative Association (“NRECA”),
founded in 1942, is a cooperative organization representing the interests of cooperative electric
utilities with a special emphasis on seeking Federal government economic support for rural
electric utilities. NRECA has more than 900 member cooperatives that serve 40 million people
in 47 states. NRECA was formed pursuant to the laws of the District of Columbia and is located
at 4301 Wilson Blvd., Arlington, VA 22203.

(b) NRECA sponsored3 the formation of CFC which is owned by NRECA
members.
(c) NRECA is the District 11 Representative with permanent membership on

CFC’s Board.

(d) CFC “... participates in a multiple employer pension plan managed by

NRECA.” See CFC’s 2009 10K, “Benefits”, p. 72.

7. Defendant Sheldon C. Petersen (“Petersen”) is and has been the Governor and

Chief Executive Officer of CFC and RTFC since 1995. Petersen resides at 510 Fortress Circle.

* NRECA’s annual meeting approved the formation of CFC on March 17, 1969.
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SE, Leesburg, Virginia.

8. Defendant John J. List (“List”) is and has been the Senior Vice President of
Member Services and General Counsel of CFC and RTFC since 1995. Upon information and
belief, List resides at 3919 Aspen Street, Baltimore, Maryland.

0. Defendant Steven L. Lilly (“Lilly”) is and has been the Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer of CFC and RTFC since 1995. Lilly resides at 4285 Phoenix Road,
Bealeton, Virginia.

10.  Defendant Glenn L. English (“English”) has been Chief Executive Officer of
NRECA since March 1994. English served on CFC’s Board from 1994 through fiscal year 2005.
English previously served in the United States House of Representatives from 1975 to 1994.
English served on the House Agriculture Committee from 1975 to 1994, and was Chairman of
the House Agricultural Subcommittee on Environment, Credit and Rural Development in 1989.
Upon information and belief, English resides at 3500 Clarks Crossing Road, Vienna, Virginia.

1. Defendant Deloitte Touch¢ USA LLP (“Deloitte”) is an international public
accounting firm that has performed the individual audits of CFC, RTFC, and the National
Cooperative Services Corporation (“NCSC”) as well as the Consolidated Audit for CFC, RTFC,
and NCSC - the Consolidated Audit for CFC, RTFC, and NCSC for the fiscal years ended May
31% 2005 thru 2009 and are hereinafter referred to as the “Deloitte Audits”. The Deloitte office
which provided the audit is located at Suite 800, 1750 Tysons Boulevard, McLean, Virginia.

12. Defendant Randall B. Johnston (“Johnston”) is a partner at Deloitte Touché USA
LLP, an international accounting firm, and a former partner at Arthur Andersen LLP. Johnston
offices in Mclean, Virginia and resides at 7707 W. Huntmaster Lane, McLean, Virginia.

13.  Defendant ERNST & YOUNG LLP (Ernst) is an international public accounting
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firm that has performed the audits of CFC, RTFC, and the National Cooperative Services
Corporation (“NCSC”). Ernst issued Audit Reports with respect to the Combined Audits of CFC
and RTFC for fiscal years 2002 and 2003 as well as the Consolidated Audit for CFC, RTFC, and
NCSC for fiscal year 2004. Defendant Ernst also issued Audit Reports for the Audits of RTFC
for fiscal years 2002, 2003, and 2004. The Combined Audits for the fiscal years ended May 31
2002 and 2003 and the Consolidated Audit for fiscal year ended May 31, 2004 is hereinafter
referred to as the “Ernst Audits”. The Ernst office which was responsible for the audit services is
located at McLean, Virginia.

14. The following Defendants are hereinafter referred to as the “Credit Rating
Agencies”, which include:

1. Defendant MOODY'S INVESTORS SERVICE, INC. is a division of
MOODY'S CORP., a Delaware corporation (collectively "Moody's'). Defendant Moody's
provides credit ratings, research and risk analysis to investors. Moody's also maintains
offices located at 250 Greenwich Street, New York, New York 10007. Defendant
Moody’s is a citizen of a state other than the U.S. Virgin Islands.

il. Defendant, THE MCGRAW-HILL COMPANIES, INC. ("McGraw Hill")
is a New York corporation. Standard & Poor's ("S&P”) is a division of McGraw-Hill
providing credit ratings, risk evaluation, investment research and data to investors.
Defendant S&P is located at 55 Water Street New York, New York 10041. Defendant
S&P is a citizen of a state other than the U.S. Virgin Islands.

1ii. Defendant FITCH, INC. ("Fitch"), and its affiliate, Defendant FITCH
RATINGS, LTD. ("Fitch Ratings") (collectively, "Fitch"), is a credit rating agency that

has dual headquarters in New York and London. Defendant Fitch Ratings is a part of
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Fitch Group, Inc. a subsidiary of a French company, Fimalac, S.A. Defendant Fitch has
offices located at One State Street Plaza, New York, NY 10004. Defendant S&P is a
citizen of a state other than the U.S. Virgin Islands.

RELEVANT NON-PARTIES TO THE ACTION

15.  The U.S. Senate’s Judiciary Committee in adopting False Claims Reform Act,
fully set forth in S. REP. 99-345, 1986 U.S.C.C.A.N. 5266, at 5275, broadly defined the Act’s
object of protection by defining U.S. Government® to include “any Government agency or
instrumentability [instrumentality], quasi-governmental corporation, or nonappropriated fund
activity”.

16.  Rural Telephone Finance Corporation (“RTFC”) is a taxable cooperative legally
domiciled in the District of Columbia, created by CFC in 1987 purportedly to serve the financial
needs of the rural telecommunications industry. RTFC’s Headquarters is co-located with CFC at
2201 Cooperative Way, Herndon, Virginia 20171. RTFC is under the dominion and control of
CFC as more fully described hereinafter.

17. The United States Department of Agriculture (the “USDA”) is a Department of
the United States Government. USDA’s mission statement states that the USDA “provide[s]
leadership on food, agriculture, natural resources, and related issues based on sound public
policy, the best available science, and efficient management”.  The USDA, through RUS,
administers the Rural Economic Development Loan and Grant (“REDLG”) program - a program
that provides funding to rural projects through local utility organizations. In this case, the USDA

approved and also guaranteed the $3.0 Billion in bonds issued by CFC and purchased by the

* The House Judiciary Committee defined the term ‘claim’ stating, “A claim upon any Government
agency or instrumentality, quasigovernmental corporation, or nonappropriated fund activity is a claim
upon the United States under the Act”. SEE: A&P H.R. REP. 99-660, p. 21. (Emphasis Added).



8:08-cv-00048-LSC-CRZ Doc # 36 Filed: 09/02/10 Page 8 of 165 - Page ID # 813

Federal Financing Bank (“FFB”), an instrumentality’ of the United States, pursuant to the
REDLG program.

18. The Federal Financing Bank (“FFB”) is a government corporation created by
Congress in 1973 under the general supervision of the Secretary of the Treasury and is
designated as an instrumentality of the United States by 12 U.S.C. § 2283. The FFB was
established to centralize and reduce the cost of federal borrowing. FFB is a “Government agency
or instrumentability [instrumentality], quasi-governmental corporation, or nonappropriated fund
activity” referred to in the Senate Judiciary Committee when adopting the False Claims Reform
Act. SEE: S. REP. 99-345, 1986 U.S.C.C.A.N. 5266, at page 5275. In this case, in a series of
transactions, the FFB purchased $3.0 Billion in bonds issued by CFC under the REDLG
program.

19. The Federal Agricultural Mortgage Corporation, commonly known as “Farmer
Mac”, is a stockholder-owned, federally chartered instrumentality of the United States and is
designated as an instrumentality of the United States by 12 U.S.C. § 2279aa-1(a)(1). Farmer
Mac was created by Congress in 1988 by the Agricultural Credit Act of 1987, which added a
new Title VIII to the Farm Credit Act of 1971 (12 U.S.C. 2279aa et seq.) to establish a secondary
market for agricultural real estate and rural housing mortgage loans and to increase the
availability of long-term credit at stable interest rates to American farmers, ranchers and rural
homeowners. Farmer Mac is a “Government agency or instrumentability [instrumentality],
quasi-governmental corporation, or nonappropriated fund activity” as referred to in the Senate
Committee of Judiciary when adopting the False Claims Reform Act. SEE: S. REP. 99-345,

1986 U.S.C.C.A.N. 5266, at page 5275.

> See 12 USC § 2283.
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20. a. The National Cooperative Services Corporation ("NCSC") was
incorporated in 1981 in the District of Columbia as a private cooperative association. The
principal purpose of NCSC is to provide financing to the for-profit or non-profit entities that are
owned, operated or controlled by, or provide substantial benefit to, members of CFC. NCSC
also markets, through its cooperative members, a consumer loan program for home
improvements and an affinity credit card program. NCSC's results of operations and financial
condition are consolidated with those of CFC in the accompanying financial statements. NCSC
is headquartered with CFC in Herndon, Virginia. NCSC is a taxable corporation.

b. NCSC's membership (owners) consists of CFC and distribution systems
that are members of CFC or are eligible for such membership. Thus, unlike RTFC, CFC and
NCSC have common ownership.

21. James M. Andrews was and is, during the applicable period, a Government
employee and the Administrator of USDA's Rural Utilities, and former NRECA and CFC Board
member. During his nomination as Administrator of USDA's Rural Utilities program, Mr.
Andrews stated:

I served 16 years on the NRECA board. Six of those years I served as an officer,
including two as the president. As president of NRECA, I served on the board of the
National Rural Electric Cooperative Finance Corporation (CFC), a supplemental finance
cooperative owned by the members. SEE: Mr. Andrews’ speech as nominee before the
Hearings of the Agriculture, Nutrition and Forestry Committee on Thursday, November
10, 2005.

Upon information and belief, Mr. Andrews was instrumental in helping to orchestrate the False
Claims made by CFC, to Farmer Mac, USDA and FFB.
THE DOLLAR AMOUNT OF THE FALSE CLAIMS

22. This portion of the complaint sets forth the dollar amount of the Federal funds
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accessed by CFC.

23.  CFC was formed so that Electric Cooperatives can access private funds through
the capital markets. CFC’s formation® and functionality is: “[to act] as a conduit [for electric
cooperatives] to the domestic and international capital markets.” As illustrated below, CFC is
now functioning as a conduit for Electric cooperative to Federal funds.

Farmer Mac.

24.  As of February 28, 2010, per CFC’s publicly filed reports (quarterly 10Qs and
annual 10Ks), Farmer Mac has loaned CFC or provided CFC funds through purchasing loans
from CFC of TWO BILLION, ONE HUNDRED FOURTEEN MILLION, SIX HUNDRED
THOUSAND DOLLARS ($2,114,600,000) (“Farmer Mac Funding7”).

25. FOUR HUNDRED THIRTY NINE MILLION, SIX HUNDRED THOUSAND
DOLLARS ($439,600,000) of the Farmer Mac Funding consists of loans sold to Farmer Mac in
a loan securitization transaction (“FM Loan Securitization Sale”) which was accounted by CFC
as a sale®. The FM Loan Securitization Sale consists of the following:

a. THREE HUNDRED SIXTY-FIVE MILLION, SIX HUNDRED

THOUSAND DOLLARS ($365,600,000) reported in CFC’s 2007 10K, FN 3, p. 98;

b. FORTY MILLION DOLLARS ($40,000,000) reported in CFC’s

8/31/2007 10Q, FN 3, p. 14; and

C. THIRTY FOUR MILLION DOLLARS ($34,000,000) reported in CFC’s

6 See http://web.archive.org/web/20040825073008/www.nrucfc.coop/aboutcfc/whatWeDo.htm.
7 Farmer Mac as of 12/31/2009 had only $6.1 Billion of total assets.

¥ For instance with respect to the largest transaction CFC’s 2007 10K, FN 3, p.98, stated: “On February
15, 2007, the Company sold CFC distribution loans with outstanding principal balances totaling $366
million in a loan securitization transaction. The transaction qualified for sale treatment under SFAS 140.”
CFC does not report the transaction as occurring with Farmer Mac; however, Farmer Mac was the
purchaser.

10
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2/29/2008 10Q, FN 3, p. 15-16.

26. Additionally, as of February 28, 2010, Farmer Mac has loaned CFC on a secured
basis, ONE BILLION, SIX HUNDRED SEVENTY-FIVE MILLION DOLLARS
($1,675,000,000) (“Farmer Mac Loans”).

27. Since the 2008 Farm Bill, the Farmer Mac Loans are premised upon the new
found statutory authority making CFC loans to “electric or telephone facility by a cooperative
lender” qualified loans’ within the meaning of 12 USC § 2279aa(9)(C).

Federal Financing Bank.

28.  As of February 28, 2010, per CFC’s publicly filed reports (quarterly 10Qs and
annual 10Ks), under the authority of the Rural Economic Development Loan and Grant program
(the “REDLG Program”), CFC has borrowed from the Federal Financing Bank (“FFB”’) THREE
BILLION DOLLARS ($3,000,000,000) (“REDLG Loans”).

Farmer Mac and FFB Funding.

29. The following table integrates the Farmer Mac Funding and from the REDLG

Loans through CFC’s 2/28/2009 10Q —

Government Funds Invested in CFC

(as of 2/28/2010)

Outstanding Cumulative
Date 10K Farmer Mac USDA Total
July 2005 2004 500,000,000 - 500,000,000
Nov. 2005 2005 - 500,000,000 1,000,000,000
Feb. 2006 2005 - 500,000,000 1,500,000,000
May 2006 2005 - 1,000,000 ,000 2,500,000,000
May 2007 2006 365,600,000 - 2,865,600,000
Aug. 2007 2006 40,000,000 500,000,000 3,405,600,000
Jan. 2008 2007 34,000,000 - 3,439,600,000
March 2008 2007 400,000,000 - 3,839,600,000

? As set forth later, Farmer Mac has NO authority because a loan is a ‘qualified loan’ and such loan
pledged as collateral to function in competition with private banks by providing line of credit for loans
which Farmer Mac has no intention to purchase, pool, and market through the sale of Farmer Mac
guaranteed mortgage backed securities.

11
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July 2008 2007 (500,000,000) - 3,339,600,000
Sept. 2008 2008 - 500,000,000 3,839,600,000
Dec. 2008 2008 230,000,000 - 4,069,600,000
Jan./Feb. 2009 2008 270,000,000 - 4,339,600,000
Mar./May 2009 2008 300,000,000 - 4,639,600,000
March 2008 2008 (400,000,000) - 4,239,600,000
March 2008 2008 400,000,000 - 4,639,600,000
June 2009 2008 200,000,000 - 4,839,600,000
Aug. 2009 2008 425,000,000 - 5,264,600,000
2/28/2010 3Qtr. 10Q (150,000,000) - 5.114,600,000

2.114,600,000 3.000,000,000 5,114,600,000

EQUAL PROTECTION" & THE POLITICS OF INFLUENCE

30. Citing the Government’s Notice of Election to Decline Intervention (DE 26,
Order unsealing certain pleadings) filed in this case, CFC used the foregoing notice and
inactivity of the Securities and Exchange Commission to, in oral arguments, casts aspersions as
to Relator’s averments made in this complaint. See Virgin Islands Bankruptcy Court, Case 3:07-
bk-30012-JKF, Doc 1850, Filed 07/18/10, page 21, § 43 & FN 32 (which set up character
assassination that took place in oral arguments.)

31. Under information and belief, CFC and NRECA had been able to thwart or

13

forestall investigations'"'? because of the politics of influence' (“Politics of Influence”).

1 Selective enforcement of laws is an equal protection issue.

"' The SEC Office of Inspector General has issued reports regarding Bernie Madoff, Allied Capital, and
Allen Stanford that have demonstrated the SEC’s reluctance to pursue known deviant activity.

1> Department of Justice whistleblower who resigned over the “corrupt nature of the dismissal” of the
New Black Panther case testified before the U.S. Commission on Civil Rights on July 6. 2010, See U. S.
Commission on Civil Rights, New Black Panther Investigation. Under information and belief, political
influence has been used to quash enforcement of laws within the beltway for a long time.

PNRECA uses money, the bedrock support for rural America (even NRECA and CFC do not operate in
accord with rural values), and votes (NRECA claims to influence 35 to 40 Million coop patrons) to
influence and/or corrupt our Government and undermine the laws of the United States.

12
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NRECA'’s Politics of Influence rests firmly upon two forms of political currency: money14 and
votes'”.

32. Evidence of CFC’s and NRECA’s success with Politics of Influence includes, but
is not limited to -

a. Special Purpose Legislation: The Farm Security and Rural Investment Act
of 2002 implemented 7 U.S.C. § 940c-1 which is the statutory basis that allows CFC
access to the REDLG program. CFC is the only company to qualify pursuant to that
amendment.

b. Special Purpose Legislation: The 2008 Farm Bill, “Food, Conservation,
and Energy Act of 2008, Sec. 5406, “Rural utility loans” amended Farmer Mac’s
statutory charter by

(1) Amending 12 U.S.C. 2279aa-9 making CFC loans and CoBank’s'®
loans eligible loans for Farmer Mac’s guarantee; and

(i1))  Amending 12 U.S.C. 2279aa-9 to insure CFC loans are not subject
to the $2.5 Million investment cap presently contained in 12 U.S.C. 2279aa-

8(c)(1).

CFC is the only privately-owned company which is qualified by this legislation to sell'’

loans to Farmer Mac.

" NRECA made political contributions of over $5.5 Million in 2009; $5.5 Million in 2008; $4.1 Million
in 2007, etc. (see Open Secrets.com).

" NRECA claims to represent the interest of some 30 to 40 million rural residents. It sponsors the Take
Action Network. See https://ssl.capwiz.com/nreca’home/ NRECA is an entity that represents rural interest
but operates devoid of Rural Values.

'® CoBank is a Farm Credit Bank institution, which has no need for Farmer Mac. CFC is the only
privately owned entity eligible under these amendments to Farmer Mac’s statutory charter.

" However, the only time CFC sold loans to Farmer Mac was before Farmer Mac had this authority was
in the FM Loan Securitization Sale transactions described in paragraph 25 above.

13
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c. CFC corrupted and perverted the administration of Farmer Mac into
advancing CFC over $1.3 Billion before passage of the 2008 Farm Bill and Farmer Mac
loans to CFC were classified as ‘non-program investments'®, when —

(1) non-program investments were restricted in total to a sum of $60

Million or less pursuant to Federal regulations'®*’; and

(i1) The CFC-Farmer Mac transactions, as private transactions,
violated the marketability liquidity requirements (dealing with Farmer Mac’s

safety and soundness) for non-program”' investments of 12 C.F.R. § 652.35(c).

d. After the 2008 Farm Bill, CFC corrupted and perverted the administration
of Farmer Mac into investments that are ultra vires: Farmer Mac functions contrary to its
statutory charter®; that is, Farmer Mac functions as a bank providing lines of credit to
CFC.

e. House of Representatives, Committee on Oversight and Government
Reform, held a hearing on June 26, 2008, regarding the GOVERNANCE AND

FINANCIAL ACCOUNTABILITY OF RURAL ELECTRIC COOPERATIVES: THE

PEDERNALES EXPERIENCE and —

'8 Farmer Mac classified the investments as non-program.

12 C.F.R. § 652.35(d)(1) states that Farmer Mac “not invest more than 25 percent of your regulatory
capital in eligible investments issued by any single entity, issuer or obligor”.

% Mortgage investments that are program investments are subject to a $2.5 Million investment cap before
the 2008 Farm Bill Amendments.

>l If the investments were program investments, Farmer Mac was restricted by statute to mortgage
investment cap of $2.5 Million.

*? Tronically, when Farmer Mac’s charter is altered to authorize the FM Loan Securitization Sale
transactions and those transactions become legal, there are no more FM Loan Securitization Sale
transactions. The amendment does not work because it would require CFC to sell its loan
portfolio and thus contract (become smaller) until CFC became irrelevant.

14
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(1) NRECA'’s CEO, the CEO, testimony was utterly disrespectful® to
the Committee as a whole and specifically, to Representative Cooper;
(i)  Mr. English, at the hearing, publicly announced*® that
Representative Cooper was under investigation by the F.B.I. for accessing
NRECA’s web site; and
(ii1))  After showing complete disdain for the Committee and publicly
accusing a sitting member of Congress of committing a crime, NRECA and CFC
have stymied further hearings.
Representative Cooper™ mistakenly presumed NRECA/CFC was independent of the
targets of the investigations, aberrant cooperatives such as Pedernales.

f. Neutralizing any and all investigations into the business affairs of CFC.
33.  Even though CFC’s CEO’s own words®®, describes CFC “function as a bridge

between electrical co-ops and financial markets” to supplement Agriculture Department’s Rural

» e.g., COOPER. Mr. English, so there is co-op misbehavior that would be so bad that would prevent
them from being members of NRECA as long as a local vote ratified the decision?

Mr. ENGISH. I will go back again. We have the same situation here. I don’t know if the behavior of
Members of Congress that prohibit them from being members of this body. SEE HT, p. 123-124.

* ENGLISH: The people that could give you authorization is myself or others at NRECA, a limited
number. Like I said, this is a matter under investigation by the FBI. You can take it up with them. SEE
HT, p. 154.

** Representative Cooper committed two errors: (i) he published an article in the Harvard Legislative
Journal critical of coop governance (Electric Co-operatives: From New Deal to Bad Deal?); and (ii) He
failed to realize the relationship between the former management of PEDERNALES and CFC. CFC had
proposed Bennie Fuelberg, the CEO and General Manager of Pedernales Electric Cooperative, Inc., to
serve as Receiver for CoServ. Mr. Fuelberg was indicted in June of 2009 for misapplication of fiduciary
property, theft and money laundering.

*6 SEE Steven Mufson, Defaults Plague Little-Known Lender, WASHINGTON POST, April 30, 2007.

15
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Utilities Service loans, CFC would have financially collapsed had not CFC unlawfully?’
accessed Farmer Mac Funding before the 2008 Farm Bill.

34. NRECA’s and CFC’s capability to bend those parties charged with enforcing the
law to their will as well as their ability to corrupt accountants and ratings agencies represents the
worst state of government™.

DEFINITIONS

35.  In addition to the terms defined in the foregoing paragraphs, for purposes of this
pleading, the following terms shall be ascribed the following meanings:

“Coop” means a cooperative association.

“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles.

“MD&A” means “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations”, an SEC mandated disclosure to inform investors of the reporting
companies financial condition and important financial trends.

“SEC Filings” means CFC’s annual reports, form 10K; CFC’s quarterly reports, form
10Q; and CFC’s other information filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”)
pursuant to law.

“Segment Information” is a required disclosure (primarily financial) about business
segments of an enterprise and is required to provide information about the different types of
business activities in which an enterprise engages and the different economic environments in

which the enterprise operates. This is done in order to help users of financial statements: (i)

*7 There can be no better example of the Politics of Influence than to turn a blind eye to the blatantly
unlawful access of Farmer Mac giving effect to the 2008 Farm Bill beginning in July 2005, nearly 3 years
before Farmer Mac’s charter was amended.

¥ «Society in every state is a blessing, but government, even in its best state, is but a necessary evil; in its
worst state, an intolerable one.” See Thomas Pain, Common Sense, 1776.
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better understand the enterprise's performance; (ii) better assess its prospects for future net cash
flows; and (ii1) make more informed judgments about the enterprise as a whole.

“Electric Loan Portfolio” means the loans made by CFC to Electric Members as defined
herein.

“Electric Members” or “CFC’s Electric Members” mean the electric utilities that are
members of CFC.

“Patron” in this context means a CFC borrower or RTFC borrower.

“Telephone Loan Portfolio” means the CFC loans to RTFC members through RTFC.

“Total Loan Portfolio” means CFC’s total loans to members which include the Electric
Loan Portfolio, the Telephone Loan Portfolio, and a small loan portfolio (less than 3% of the
Total Loan Portfolio) to NCSC.

GENERAL STATEMENT OF THE CASE

36.  Regarding the False Claims Act, the Fourth Circuit in its opinion in Harrison v.

Westinghouse Savannah River Co., 176 F.3d 776, C.A. 4 (S.C.), 1999, held:

According to Congress, after the 1986 amendments the False Claims Act should
be broadly construed:
each and every claim submitted under a contract, loan guarantee, or other
agreement which was originally obtained by means of false statements or other
corrupt or fraudulent conduct, or in violation of any statute or applicable
regulation, constitutes a false claim.
S. Rep. No. 99-345, at 9, reprinted in 1986 U.S.C.C.A.N. at 5274 (emphases added).
The courts have implemented the principles embodied in the above-quoted passage in a
variety of ways. See 176 F.3d at 786.

The Fourth Circuit decision is not the only Circuit Court® decision that relies upon the foregoing

Senate Report to define a false claim. See Bettis v. Odebrecht Contrs. of Cal., Inc., 393 F.3d

*? As cited seven circuits have specifically adopted the definition in the Senate Finance Committee Report
of a False Claim.
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1321, 1326 (D.C. Cir. 2005) (When Congress amended the False Claims Act in 1986, its
legislative history recognized fraud-in-the-inducement liability under the Act. Specifically,
Congress noted that, under False Claims Act case law, "each and every claim submitted under a
contract, loan guarantee, or other agreement which was originally obtained by means of false
statements or other corrupt or fraudulent conduct, or in violation of any statute or applicable
regulation, constitutes a false claim." S. REP. NO. 99-345, at 9 (1986), reprinted in 1986
U.S.C.C.A.N. 5266, 5274.); United States ex. rel. Mikes v. Straus, 274 F.3d 687, 697 (2d Cir.
N.Y. 2001) (The False Claims Act ... was intended to embrace at least some claims that suffer
from legal falsehood. Thus, "a false claim may take many forms, the most common being a claim
for goods or services not provided, or provided in violation of contract terms, specification,
statute, or regulation." S. Rep. No. 99-345, at 9, reprinted in 1986 U.S.C.C.A.N. 5266, 5274.);
United States ex rel. Quinn v. Omnicare Inc., 382 F.3d 432, 439 (3d Cir. N.J. 2004) (Citing the
Senate Report, the Court found that False Claims Act aims to impose liability for a broad range
of conduct.); American Textile Mfrs. Inst., Inc. v. Limited, Inc., 190 F.3d 729, 737 (6th Cir. Ohio
1999) (The 1986 Senate Report uses similar language to describe the reach of the pre-1986 False
Claims Act. See S. Rep. No. 99-345, at 9, reprinted in 1986 U.S.C.C.A.N. 5266, 5274.); United
States v. Univ. of Phoenix, 461 F.3d 1166, 1170-1171 (9th Cir. Cal. 2006) (More specifically, in
amending the False Claims Act in 1986, Congress emphasized that the scope of false or
fraudulent claims should be broadly construed: [E]ach and every claim submitted under a
contract, loan guarantee, or other agreement which was originally obtained by means of false
statements or other corrupt or fraudulent conduct, or in violation of any statute or applicable
regulation, constitutes a false claim. S. Rep. No. 99-345, at 9 (1986), reprinted in 1986

U.S.C.C.A.N. 5266, 5274.); Shaw v. AAA Eng'g & Drafting, Inc., 213 F.3d 519, 531 (10th Cir.
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Okla. 2000) (The Senate Committee on the Judiciary noted a false claim under the False Claims
Act "may take many forms, the most common being a claim for goods or services not provided,
or provided in violation of contract terms, specification, statute, or regulation." S. Rep. No. 99-
345 at 9, reprinted in 1986 U.S.C.C.A.N. at 5274.)

37. There are three separate and distinct types of prohibited conduct under the Act
when accessing the Government fisc:

a. by means of false statements;

b. by means of other corrupt or fraudulent conduct; or

c. inviolation of any ... applicable statute or regulation.

This case involves CFC’s (an unregulated entity) access of the Government fisc to the sum of
over $5 Billion implicating all three of the above forms of prohibited conduct: false statements;
corrupt or fraudulent conduct; and conduct in violation of Federal regulations.

38. CFC compe‘[es30 against an instrumentality of the U.S. Government, CoBank,
ACB ("CoBank").

39.  In a material departure from GAAP, CFC has failed to recognize a catastrophic
loan loss on a $1 Billion loan made to Denton County Electric Cooperative, Inc. (“CoServ”)
which makes every CFC financial statement issued beginning with the November 30, 2002
Financial Statement materially misleading.

40.  In a material departure from GAAP, CFC has failed to recognize a catastrophic
loan loss on a $600 Million loan made to Innovative Communication Corporation (‘ICC”) which

makes every CFC financial statement issued beginning with the May 31, 2008 Financial

% “The primary bank competitor is CoBank, ACB ("CoBank"), a government sponsored enterprise and
member of the Farm Credit System whose status as such gives it the ability to offer lower interest rates in
select situations.” SEE: 2007 10K, page 9.
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Statement materially misleading.

41.  Upon information and belief, in order to compete against CoBank®", in 1987, CFC
became a predatory lender in the rural market preying upon rural telephone companies and
formed, for this purpose, RTFC, a coop through which CFC funded rural telephone loans. Due
to CFC’s illegal control over RTFC, income earned from loans made to rural telephone
companies was unlawfully distributed to CFC’s Electric Members. As a tax-exempt coop, CFC
is legally required to allocate earned income to the Patron whose business created the earnings.
As a Patron of CFC, RTFC is entitled* to be allocated RTFC’s contribution to CFC’s earnings.
This conduit concept (CFC operates as a conduit for its patrons) which is embedded within
Article XI of CFC’s bylaws which provide:

Section I: All net savings [net income] ... shall be received by the Association with the
understanding that they are furnished by its patrons as capital and that the Association
is obligated to pay by credits to a capital account ... for each patron ....

Section 4: ... net savings [net income] so furnished by each patron is clearly reflected
and credited in an appropriate record to the capital account of each patron ...
(Emphasis Added)

The above are not gratuitous provisions but is inherent in the very nature of the coop form of
business and is a legal requirement’ (operation as a conduit) for coop tax treatment whether the
coop is tax-exempt (as CFC) or taxable (as RTFC and NCSC).

42. CFC failed to allocate income that CFC earned from RTFC’s loans to members of

RTFC. Instead, patronage income due RTFC was allocated and distributed to CFC’s Electric

3! CoBank borrows at government agency rates, is better capitalized and operates as a coop. CoBank’s
primary funding is derived from the sale of Farm Credit System securities (a government agency) to
investors in the national and international money markets.

32 Either through a dividend or credit to RTFC’s capital account.

33 General Counsel Memorandum on Cooperative Netting, GCM 38061, 1979 WL 52855.
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Members: members that did not furnish the net savings or net income. The systematic
defalcation of RTFC, the “Embezzlement Scheme,” is a patently illegal scheme. In furtherance
of the Embezzlement Scheme, CFC:

a. Provided long-term, fixed-rate financing to Electric Members at rates subsidized
with the profits from the Embezzlement Scheme;

b. Prepared financial information to mask the Embezzlement Scheme and mislead
the investing public and the Government as to the profitability of the Electric
Loan Portfolio;

c. Submitted the SEC Filings which contained financial information that (i) was
materially misleading and (ii) did not comply with generally accepted accounting
principles, GAAP; and

d. As the Embezzlement Scheme profits decreased, due to a decrease in the
Telephone Loan Portfolio, CFC accessed the Government fisc in violation of
Federal regulations for a sum of approximately $5 Billion in lieu of seeking
increases in the financing rates paid on funds provided to CFC’s Electric
Members.

Ernst was the only auditor of CFC that provided transparent financial information. Ernst was
sandwiched between Arthur Andersen LLP (“AA”) (which went out of business) and Deloitte,
whose lead auditor was a former member of AA. By comparing RTFC’s** financial information
to 